
Open Spaces and City Gardens

Date: MONDAY, 14 OCTOBER 2019
Time: 11.30 am
Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM - 2ND FLOOR WEST WING, GUILDHALL

Members: Oliver Sells QC (Chairman)
Graeme Doshi-Smith (Deputy Chairman)
Alderman Ian Luder
Wendy Mead
Barbara Newman
Jeremy Simons
Deputy John Tomlinson
Caroline Haines
Deputy Philip Woodhouse (Ex-Officio Member)
Karina Dostalova (Ex-Officio Member)
Anne Fairweather (Ex-Officio Member)

Enquiries: Richard Holt
Richard.Holt@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Lunch will be served in the Guildhall Club at 1pm

N.B. part of this meeting may be subject to audio-visual recording

John Barradell
Town Clerk and Chief Executive

Public Document Pack

mailto:Richard.Holt@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Part 1 - Public Agenda

1. APOLOGIES

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

3. MINUTES
To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the previous meeting of the 
Open Spaces & City Gardens Committee on 15 July 2019.  

For Decision
(Pages 1 - 8)

4. BREXIT UPDATE
Director of Open Spaces to be heard.

For Information
Open Spaces

5. THREE YEAR REVIEW OF THE OPEN SPACES DEPARTMENT'S 'GREEN 
SPACES, LEARNING PLACES' PROGRAMME
Report of the Director of Open Spaces. 

For Information
(Pages 9 - 46)

City Gardens

6. SUPERINTENDENT’S UPDATE
Report of the Director of Open Spaces. 

For Information
(Pages 47 - 54)

7. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED

Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
MOTION: That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

For Decision



3

10. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES
To agree the non-public minutes of the previous meeting of the Open Spaces & City 
Gardens Committee held on 15 July 2019.

For Decision
(Pages 55 - 56)

11. FINSBURY CIRCUS GARDEN REINSTATEMENT
Report of the City Surveyor. 

For Decision
(Pages 57 - 82)

12. RENNIE GARDEN
Report of the City Surveyor. 

For Decision
(Pages 83 - 90)

13. REPORT OF ACTION TAKEN
Report of the Town Clerk.

For Information
(Pages 91 - 92)

14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED



This page is intentionally left blank



OPEN SPACES AND CITY GARDENS
Monday, 15 July 2019 

Minutes of the meeting of the Open Spaces and City Gardens held at Committee 
Room - 2nd Floor West Wing, Guildhall on Monday, 15 July 2019 at 11.30 am

Present

Members:
Oliver Sells QC (Chairman)
Graeme Doshi-Smith (Deputy Chairman)
Wendy Mead
Barbara Newman
Jeremy Simons
Deputy John Tomlinson
Deputy Philip Woodhouse (Ex-Officio Member)
Karina Dostalova (Ex-Officio Member)
Caroline Haines

In attendance:
Verderer Joanna Thomas

Officers:
Richard Holt - Town Clerk’s Department
Carl Locsin - Town Clerk’s Department
Mark Jarvis

Alison Elam

- Head of Finance - Citizen Services, 
Chamberlains

- Group Accountant, Chamberlain's  
Department

Alison Bunn - City Surveyor’s Department
Colin Buttery - Director of Open Spaces & Heritage
Martin Rodman - Superintendent, West Ham Park and 

City Gardens
Dr Helen Read - Conservation Officer, The Commons
Gerry Kiefer - Department of Open Spaces
Jake Tibbetts - City Gardens Manager, Department of 

Open Spaces
Patrick Hegarty - Technical Manager, Department of 

Open Spaces
Jack Joslin - City Bridge Trust 

1. APOLOGIES 
Apologies were received from Alderman Ian Luder and Catherine Bickmore.

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
There were no declarations. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



3. ORDER OF THE COURT OF COMMON COUNCIL 
RESOLVED – That the order of the Court of Common Council be received.

4. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 
The Committee proceeded to elect a Chairman in accordance with Standing 
Order No. 29. The Town Clerk read a list of Members eligible to stand and 
Oliver Sells being the only Member expressing their willingness to serve was 
duly elected Chairman for the ensuing year and took the Chair.

RESOLVED – That Oliver Sells be elected Chairman of the Committee for the 
ensuing year.

The Committee expressed their thanks to the outgoing Chairman Graeme 
Doshi-Smith. 

VOTE OF THANKS

Proposed by Barbara Newman.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:

That the Members of the Open Spaces and City Gardens Committee wish to 
place on record their sincere appreciation to

GRAEME MARTYN DOSHI-SMITH

Their very great and sincere thanks and appreciation for the distinguished 
manner in which he has served as Chairman since 6th June 2016. Much has 
been achieved during Graeme’s Chairmanship in what has been a challenging 
financial and political period. He has combined an open minded, forward 
looking, balanced and calm approach with good humour and enthusiasm. 

As the Strategic Committee for all the City’s Open Spaces, Graeme oversaw 
the passage of the City of London Corporation (Open Spaces) Act 2018 from its 
October 2016 Third Reading in the House of Commons, to the gaining of Royal 
Assent on 15 March 2018. 

Graeme has provided strategic leadership on matters affecting the whole 
Department. Graeme recommended final amendments to the overarching 
Departmental Events Policy which, together with the site-specific plans, has 
established clear guidelines to event organisers and ensures that events are 
properly managed from both a conservation and community impact 
perspective. 

Recognising the value that the Learning Programme brings to young people 
and adults who struggle to experience and connect with nature, he fully backed 
the request for core funding to embed the Learning Programme within the 
Department. Similarly, thanks to Graeme’s forward-thinking approach, 23 
people have been given opportunities across the Open Spaces Department 

Page 2



under our apprenticeship scheme. Graeme is also an adamant supporter of the 
many volunteers who assist across our open spaces. Over the past three 
years, grants totalling £250k have been awarded to twenty community, charity 
and voluntary organisations through the ‘Enjoying Green Spaces and the 
Natural Environment’ grant aid scheme which Graeme introduced in 
partnership with the City Corporation’s Central Grants Scheme. 

A keen supporter of responsible and sustainable business practices, Graeme 
has promoted the Department’s introduction of Photo-voltaic solar panels on 
some of its buildings, which has seen the Department significantly increase its 
contribution to electricity generation. Similarly, officers are reducing fleet and 
machinery costs and converting to cleaner fuels, highlighted within the Square 
Mile by the City Gardens team’s compliance with 2019 Ultra-Low Emissions 
Zone legislation. 

A champion of the opportunities and benefits that ‘fit-for-purpose’, supported 
technology can bring to the Open Spaces Department and the wider City, 
Graeme was delighted to see the City Gardens team awarded Transformation 
Fund resources  to  introduce an electronic management system to reduce 
paper processing and to improve management information leading to more 
effective resource allocation.

A wide array of City landscape improvements and capital projects have been 
completed under Graeme’s watchful eye, enhancing the open space offer to the 
City’s residents, workers and visitors. These include the strategic new gateway 
to the City at Aldgate Square; the reinstatement of the historic Pepys Garden at 
Seething Lane where wildlife-friendly planting now sits atop three storeys of 
underground infrastructure; the commemorative Queen’s Diamond Jubilee 
Garden, now adorning the space where coaches once parked and Mitre 
Square, marking the spot where Jack-the-Ripper once plied his grisly trade. 
Negotiations with Crossrail continue regarding Finsbury Circus Garden, its 
remaining underground infrastructure and the reinstatement of the site as the 
Square Mile’s largest and oldest public open space.  

The retention of 14 Green Flag and 12 Green Heritage Scheme Awards for this 
Committee for each of his three years of Chairmanship are a testimony to 
Graeme’s interest in the quality of the visitor offer, as are the Gold award at the 
Britain in Bloom finals in 2018, and the innumerable gold awards and park-of-
the-year awards at London in Bloom.

Finally, the Committee wishes to place on record its recognition of Graeme’s 
distinguished contribution to the work of the Committee and in thanking him for 
his generous hospitality, his colleagues convey to him their good wishes for the 
future, with happy memories of a substantial body of achievement over the past 
three years.

5. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 
The Committee proceeded to elect a Deputy Chairman in accordance with 
Standing Order No. 30. The Town Clerk informed the Committee, that in 
accordance with Standing Order No. 30(3)(a), Graeme Doshi-Smith as the 

Page 3



immediate Past Chairman and having indicated his willingness to serve was 
accordingly declared to be the Deputy Chairman for the ensuing year.

RESOLVED – That Graeme Doshi-Smith be elected as Deputy Chairman for 
the ensuing year.

6. MINUTES 
Members considered the public minutes and non-public summary of the 
meeting of the Open Spaces & City Gardens Committee. 

Members raised concerns on the role of the City of London Corporation’s Open 
Spaces within the Sports Strategy and requested that the note, following the 
Members breakfast briefing, be circulated to the Committee for information. 

RESOLVED- That the minutes of the previous meeting be agreed as an 
accurate record.

7. BREXIT UPDATE 
The Director of Open Spaces provided Members with a summary of the impact 
of the Brexit process on the City of London Corporation’s Open Spaces 
Department. The Director of Open Spaces informed the Committee that 
Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs funding had been secured 
post Brexit and that the City of London Corporation had been preparing for the 
various effect’s different outcomes from the Brexit negotiations. 

RESOLVED- That the update be noted.

8. APPOINTMENT OF A REPRESENTATIVE TO THE STREETS AND 
WALKWAYS SUB COMMITTEE 
The Committee were invited to appoint a representative to the Streets and
Walkways Sub Committee for the ensuing year. The Town Clerk informed the 
Committee that Barbara Newman expressed an interest in serving and invited 
any other expressions of interest in the position.

RESOLVED- That Barbara Newman being the only Member willing to serve 
was appointed for the ensuing year.

9. CITY GARDENS UPDATE 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Open Spaces which 
provided an update on the City Gardens’ activities since April 2019.

Replying to a query from the Chairman the Director of Open Spaces confirmed 
that ‘Top Ten Trees in the City of London’ had been chosen by the Friends of 
the City Gardens. 

It was explained by the Director of Open Spaces that Goldman Sachs were 
aware of the risks relating to planting outside of the recommended window at 
the development at Stonecutter street and that the decision to begin the 
planting at this time had been taken by the company at its own risk. 

Page 4



Members suggested that Committee visits to the City Gardens be arranged to 
allow Members to experience the gardens first-hand. 

RESOLVED- That the report be noted.

10. FINSBURY CIRCUS REINSTATEMENT 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Open Spaces on the 
Finsbury Circus Reinstatement. 

The Chairman noted that he felt the reinstatement of Finsbury Circus was a 
priority for the Committee and explained that he and the Deputy Chairman had 
agreed an Interim Compensation Payment under urgency procedures in the 
week preceding the meeting. The Director of Open Spaces explained to the 
Committee that they expected to take occupation of Finsbury Circus in October 
2019.

Responding to a question from a Member the Director of Open Spaces 
explained that the Human health layer, listed within the report, was a 
requirement of contamination regulations and that they were satisfied the depth 
was adequate to protect staff working on the site. 

RESOLVED- That: -
I. Authority be delegated to the Superintendent of Parks and Gardens for 

approval of the reinstatement proposals attached at Appendix 1, as the 
temporary landscape condition to be installed by Crossrail prior to its 
vacation of Finsbury Circus Garden, in accordance with the Crossrail 
Act 2008, Schedule 5; and

II. That it was noted that by agreeing this temporary landscape, the City’s 
right to reasonable compensation in respect of the costs of 
reinstatement of the final landscape, will not be compromised.

11. CYCLICAL WORKS PROGRAMME BID - 2020/21 
The Committee received a report of the City Surveyor on the Cyclical Works 
Programme 2020/21. The report set out a provisional list of cyclical projects 
being considered for properties under the management of Open Spaces and 
City Gardens Committee. 

RESOLVED- That the report be noted. 

12. OPEN SPACES DEPARTMENTAL BUSINESS PLAN 2018/19 - YEAR END 
PERFORMANCE REPORT 
The Committee received a report of Director of Open Spaces on the Open 
Spaces Departmental Business Plan 2018/19 Year End performance. The 
report provided Members with a review of the Open Spaces Department’s 
delivery of its 2018/19 Business Plan.

A Member commented that it was key that the Sports Strategy be received by 
all the relevant committees before it was finalised. 

RESOLVED- That the report be noted.

Page 5



13. REVENUE OUTTURN 2018/19 - OPEN SPACES & CITY GARDENS 
The Committee received a report of the Chamberlain on the Revenue Outturn 
2018/19 Open Spaces & City Gardens. 

RESOLVED- That the report be noted. 

14. HEALTH & SAFETY IN THE OPEN SPACES DEPARTMENT 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Open Spaces on Health & 
Safety matters pertinent to the Open Spaces Department. 

RESOLVED- The report be noted.

15. PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AND SUBMISSION OF A PARTNERSHIP 
FUNDING BID TO HEATHROW AIRPORT LIMITED 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Open Spaces on the 
Proposed development and submission of a partnership funding bid to 
Heathrow Airport Limited. The report outlined a partnership proposal to develop 
a funding submission to the Secretary of State of Transport to create and 
restore Habitats of Principle Importance (HPI) in and around the Burnham 
Beeches SAC. The Chairman commented that he felt the project was useful 
and important to the work of the department.

RESOLVED- That the report be noted. 

16. CENTRAL GRANTS PROGRAMME (CGP) - ANNUAL REPORT 
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and 
Director of City Bridge Trust on the Central Grants Programme (CGP) Annual 
Report. The report included the outcomes of the four CGP grant programmes 
delivered in 2018/19; an update on the monitoring and evaluation of the CGP 
and an outline of the next deadlines for 2019/20. 

The Chairman noted that going forward attracting new applicants to the CGP 
was key to its success.  

RESOLVED- That the report be noted. 

17. GENDER IDENTITY POLICY 
The Committee received a report of the Town Clerk on the Gender Identity 
Policy. The report presented the City Corporation policy on gender identity, and 
the findings from independent analysis of an online survey conducted in 2018.

RESOLVED- That he report be noted.

18. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE 
A Member of the Committee raised the issue of Open Spaces online services 
listed on the City of London Corporation Website. Members discussed the need 

Page 6



to improve the City of London Open Spaces online features both in terms of 
accessibility and quality of information. It was also suggested that the 
Committee’s local risk could be used to finance this development. The Director 
of Open Spaces explained that the Open Spaces department had made the 
requirements of the website clear and that these had been considered by 
Digital Services Sub-Committee. In addition, the Committee were informed that 
the Director of Open Spaces would be meeting with the Deputy Chairman of 
the Digital Services Sub-Committee to discuss these issues. 

19. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
A Member commented that the Committee had not yet received an acceptable 
reply from the Chamberlain to the letter sent by the Committee.

20. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
RESOLVED- That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the following items of business on the grounds they 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

21. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
RESOLVED- That the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 8 April 2019 
be approved as a correct record.

22. CROSSRAIL REINSTATEMENT: FINSBURY CIRCUS BRIEFING NOTE 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Open Spaces on the 
Crossrail Reinstatement Finsbury Circus briefing note. 

RESOLVED- That the report be noted. 

23. NON-PUBLIC APPENDIX: PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AND SUBMISSION 
OF A PARTNERSHIP FUNDING BID TO HEATHROW AIRPORT LIMITED 
The Committee received a non-public appendix to be viewed in conjunction 
with item 18. 

RESOLVED- That the appendix to be noted.

24. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE 
There were no questions considered in the non-public session. 

25. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 
There were no urgent items of non-public business considered

Page 7



The meeting ended at 12.27 pm

Chairman

Contact Officer: Richard Holt
Richard.Holt@cityoflondon.gov.uk / 020 7332 3113

Page 8



Committee(s):
Hampstead Heath, Highgate Wood and Queens Park
Education Board 
Open Spaces and City Gardens 
West Ham Park Committee 
Epping Forest and Commons

Date(s):
11 September 2019
12 September 2019
14 October 2019
14 October 2019
18 November 2019

Subject:
Three year review of the Open Spaces Department’s 
‘Green Spaces, Learning Places’ programme

Public

Report of:
Colin Buttery, Director Open Spaces Department
Report author:
Abigail Tinkler, Head of Learning, Open Spaces 
Department

For Information

Summary

This report and appendix provides Members with a review of the Open Spaces Department’s three 
year (2016 to 2019) learning programme which delivered learning, play and volunteering 
opportunities to local children and adults at Hampstead Heath, West Ham Park, Epping Forest and 
Queens Park. The review provides a measure of success against the original ambitions of the 
programme and the lessons that have been learnt that will inform the future programme.  

Recommendation(s)

Members are asked to:

 Note the report.

Main Report

Background

1. The charity arm of the Open Spaces Department received three year tapering funding from City 
Bridge Trust (CBT) in 2016 to deliver a new centrally co-ordinated outdoor Learning 
Programme: ‘Green Spaces, Learning Places’, focused on delivering to urban and deprived 
communities close to our open spaces. 

2. This approach was centred around five impact areas; understanding, confidence, involvement, 
wellbeing, and connection. Using this approach, the learning team designed learning projects 
and services that deliver impact in our local communities.

3. The programme was predominantly delivered at Hampstead Heath, Epping Forest (including 
Wanstead Flats) and West Ham Park. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



2

Current Position

4. This report provides, as Appendix 1, a review of the three years of the grant funded ‘Green 
Spaces, Learning Places’ programme. 

5. The review outlines the different programmes that were offered and delivered including 
programmes for schools, sessions for Pupil Referral Units and young carers (Green Talent), 
open access play provision at Hampstead Heath, community engagement and volunteering 
development as well as the creation of a wildlife garden in West Ham Park. It provides details 
on participation numbers, achievement against targets and a summary of results of the 
programme’s ‘impact areas’ evaluation that was undertaken jointly with the University of Derby. 

6. The Programme exceeded its participation target and reached over 120,000 participants.  The 
two areas which overachieved their targets to the greatest extent were the School service 
programme overachieving the three year target by 56% and the Green Talent programme by 
78%. More information on participation levels is detailed in the review in Appendix 1.

7. CBT funding for the programme ceased on 31 March 2019. Based on the success of the 
Learning Programme and its delivery of many of the Corporate Plan outcomes, Education 
Strategy aims and Social Mobility Strategy outcomes, Members supported a request for an 
increase in the Open Spaces Department’s resource base thus mainstreaming the Learning 
Programme within the core service of the Department. This additional funding is subject to the 
Fundamental Review. 

8. The core learning programme from 2019 is listed below and opportunities for expansion and 
new initiatives will seek external funding for delivery.

 Schools service operating out of Hampstead Heath, Epping Forest, West Ham Park
 Green Talent programme working with young people struggling in education and/or furthest 

from the job market 
 Play activities at Hampstead Heath
 Volunteer development and community outreach work

Corporate & Strategic Implications

9. The Corporate Plan 2018 – 2023 - The ‘Green Spaces, Learning Places’ programme is 
contributing to the delivery of all three of the Corporate Plan’s overarching aims and seven of 
the twelve outcomes:  

 Contribute to a flourishing society:   
1. People are safe and feel safe. 
2. People enjoy good health and wellbeing. 
3. People have equal opportunities to enrich their lives and reach their full potential. 
4. Communities are cohesive and have the facilities they need.

 Support a thriving economy:
8. We have access to the skills and talent we need.

 Shape outstanding environments: 
10. We inspire enterprise, excellence, creativity and collaboration 
12. Our spaces are secure, resilient and well-maintained 

10. Social Mobility Strategy 2018 – 2028: Potential today, success tomorrow. The learning 
programme supports this CoL strategy, particularly in respect of achieving the outcomes:

Page 10



3

 Everyone can develop the skills and talent they need to thrive
 We role model and enable social mobility in the way we operate as an organisation and 

employer

11. Education Strategy 2019-23 - the programme supports the CoL’s Education Strategy 2019-
2023, particularly in respect of strategic aims:

 Provide an educational experience that enriches and inspires through access to the 
learning opportunities that the City’s cultural, heritage and environmental assets offer, 
combining creativity, innovation and enterprise alongside tradition and continuity; 

 Provide high quality exposure to the world of work at all stages of education to enable 
pupils to make informed career choices

12. Open Spaces Department Business Plan - The Learning programme makes an outstanding 
contribution to the delivery of our Departmental top line objective: ‘Spaces enrich people’s lives’ 
and its four underlying outcomes: 

 People enjoy good health and wellbeing 
 Nature, heritage and place are valued and understood 
 People feel welcome and included 
 People discover, learn and develop 

Implications

Financial

13. The programme was funded by the CBT to the sum of £400,000 over three years as a tapering 
grant (£220k, £130k, £50k).  

14. Efforts to raise additional external funds were not successful for two key reasons: 
 most funders do not fund existing projects
 the reputation of the City as a wealthy organisation hindered fundraising efforts, 

particularly when the number of funding bids outstrip the funds available. 
These factors are unlikely to change in the future, but the Learning Programme will pursue 
external funding options for new and additional learning initiatives.

15. As the programme was not able to secure significant external funding it was agreed that Open 
Spaces Department underspend and/or a City Cash contribution up to £200k would provide the 
shortfall in 2017/18 and 2018/19. A Priority Investment Pot bid was successful in May 2018 and 
£87k was awarded to cover the additional shortfall in 2018/19. 

Page 11



4

Learning programme outturn position 2016-19

2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

Total Expenditure -356 -329 -288
Income:
School fees 27 41 42
Grants & CBT funding 220 140 55
Total Income 247 181 80

Net Expenditure -109 -148 -208
Shortfall funded by: Open Spaces 

Department 
underspend

City Cash 
contribution

Priority Investment 
Pot

City Cash 
contribution

Conclusion

16. The ‘Green Spaces, Learning Places’ Programme delivered a successful three year 
programme reaching 120,00 participants, including over 42,000 school pupils, many from the 
more deprived communities that surround West Ham Park, Hampstead Heath and Epping 
Forest.

17. Evaluation of the experiences of attendees on the programme concluded that participants 
have significantly improved their understanding, wellbeing, confidence, connection and 
involvement with nature and the outdoors. 

18. On 7 March 2019 the Court of Common Council approved a £395,000 increase in the Open 
Spaces Department’s resource base which embeds the Learning Programme as a core 
service within the Department, subject to the Fundamental Review. . 

Appendices

 Appendix 1 Three Year Review of the Green Spaces, Learning Places Programme
 Appendix 2 Learning Principles
 Appendix 3 Maps showing school programme reach and areas of deprivation in London

Abigail Tinkler

Head of Learning, Open Spaces Department

T: 020 7332 3523

E: Abigail.Tinkler@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 12



5

Appendix 1: Three year review of the Open Spaces Department’s ‘Green 
Spaces, Learning Places’ programme

Contents Page 
numbers

Executive summary 6

Introduction
- Background, rationale and strategic value

8

Funding 9

Impact areas 10

Learning principles 10

Programme delivery and team expertise 11

11
14
17
19
21
24

Learning programmes
- Green Talent
- Wild Schools
- Wild East
- Playing Wild
- School services
- Play centres
- Volunteering 26

Summary of participation 28

Evaluation toolkit and impact measures 28

Key challenges and recommendations 31

The future for the learning programme 32

Appendices
- Learning principles
- Maps showing school programme reach and areas of deprivation in 

London

33

Page 13



6

Executive Summary 

‘Green Spaces, Learning Places’, the City of London Corporation Open Spaces Department’s 
innovative learning programme, launched in 2016 with a remit of effecting change across five 
impact areas: understanding, confidence, involvement, wellbeing, and connection.  

The programme was developed in response to a growing consensus that spending time in nature is 
beneficial to health and wellbeing, and a concern over health and wellbeing inequalities as people in 
deprived areas of London face more barriers than most to accessing nature. In order to tackle this 
inequality, delivery was focused on spaces located near areas of high deprivation, with programmes 
operating from West Ham Park, Hampstead Heath, Epping Forest and Queens Park. 

The programme provided a key method for the City of London to contribute to the health and 
wellbeing of residents of some of London’s most deprived communities through connecting them 
more powerfully to their local green spaces.

The three year programme delivered:

 Four innovative community-based projects: Green Talent, Wild Schools, Wild East and Playing 
Wild

 Two reinvigorated school services (Hampstead Heath and Epping Forest) 
 Two revitalised play centres (Hampstead Heath)
 A volunteering programme.

Key achievements: 

 The programme has delivered vital aspects of the City of London 
Corporation’s Corporate Plan, Social Mobility Strategy and Education Strategy.

 The programme engaged over 120,000 participants and exceeded its 
participation target by 16 %. 

 A bespoke evaluation toolkit was developed to measure the learning 
programme’s impact. Evaluation data was analysed by university researchers, 
who reported that:

o quantitative data showed a “statistically significant” increase across all 
five impact areas  

o qualitative data showed participants were “positively influenced by their 
engagement with the programme”.

 100% of participating school teachers reported that their learning outcomes have been met 

 14,554 children who are eligible for pupil premium (an indicator of disadvantage) 
participated in the school offer

 80 young people benefitted from work experience placements and associated training

 A vision for volunteering was developed for the Open Spaces Department, positioning 
volunteers as a key beneficiary 

 The programme won the 2017 CoL Award for Innovation in Equality and Inclusion

Page 14



7

 The Green Talent programme was shortlisted for the 2018 Horticulture Week Custodian 
Award for Best Community Initiative

 Bespoke programmes were delivered for Young Carers, Pupil Referral Units children with 
autism and Grenfell Families 

 Learning officers were invited to showcase their work and share their expertise at the 
National Sustainable Schools Conference, London Environmental Education Forum and 
Culture Mile Learning 

 A paper has been accepted for publication in the Journal for Environmental Education, 
showcasing the development of the evaluation toolkit and the success of the programme 
across the five impact areas. 

Feedback from participants: 

  “A wonderful facility and resource in the heart of London that enables essential learning for 
inner city children” (teacher, school services)
 

 “This is my first experience in nature, I have a bond with nature, but my mum can’t take me 
to the park” (student, school services)

 “The work experience placement really boosted my confidence … I found the whole 
thing very motivational and calming” (young person, Green Talent)

 ‘To be honest, I just thought it was football pitches. I had no idea all this nature was 
here’ (family participant, Wild East)

 “It’s so nice to know my 8 and 10 year old can come and get involved in the play outside and 
activities …. as we live in a tower block and my children can’t play out where we live” 
(parent, Adventure Clubhouse).

Key challenges: 

 The programme struggled to raise funding through external grants once the programme had 
launched as most funders do not fund existing projects, and the reputation of the City as a 
wealthy organisation hindered fundraising efforts

Page 15



8

Introduction

- Background

‘Green Spaces, Learning Places’(GSLP), the City of London Corporation Open Spaces 
Department’s innovative learning programme, launched in 2016.  Prior to 2016 the Open Spaces 
Department provided a range of education opportunities across its sites which lacked both 
consistency and shared strategic focus. GSLP was developed to deliver a unified, outcomes-based 
and centrally co-ordinated learning programme, focused on delivering to deprived communities 
close to our open spaces.

- Rationale 

The GSLP programme was developed in response to: 

- a growing consensus that spending time in nature is beneficial to health and wellbeing, whilst 
contact with nature is becoming more infrequent

- an understanding that access to green space is not equal, with people in deprived areas of 
London facing more barriers than most to accessing nature, which can impact on physical 
activity levels and mental health

- a concern that visitors to our Open Spaces are not always representative of the local 
communities, with Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups (BAME) and deprived communities 
under-represented

- a recognition that barriers to accessing green spaces exist for local communities, including fear 
of getting lost, a lack of confidence in the outdoors, a lack of understanding of the activities 
available, and a feeling that our spaces are ‘not for them’ (highlighted through consultation with 
communities adjacent to our Open Spaces)

- a concern about the attainment gap between disadvantaged school students and their peers 

- a recognition of the value of play in young people’s development, with natural play having a 
lasting impact on the development of children’s connection, understanding and appreciation for 
the natural environment.  

- Strategic Value

The GSLP programme contributes to the delivery of all three of the Corporate Plan’s overarching 
aims and seven of the 12 outcomes: 

 Contribute to a flourishing society:   

 1. People are safe and feel safe. 

 2. People enjoy good health and wellbeing. 

 3. People have equal opportunities to enrich their lives and reach their 
full potential. 

 4. Communities are cohesive and have the facilities they need. 

 Support a thriving economy:

Page 16



9

 8. We have access to the skills and talent we need. 

 Shape outstanding environments: 

 10. We inspire enterprise, excellence, creativity and collaboration. 

 12. Our spaces are secure, resilient and well-maintained.

The learning programme also supports delivery of the following corporate strategies: 

Social Mobility Strategy: Potential today, success tomorrow: 

 Everyone can develop the skills and talent they need to thrive
 Opportunity is accessed more evenly and equally across society

Education Strategy: 

 Provide an educational experience that enriches and inspires through access to the 
learning opportunities that the City’s cultural, heritage and environmental assets offer, 
combining creativity, innovation and enterprise alongside tradition and continuity; 

 Provide high quality exposure to the world of work at all stages of education to enable 
pupils to make informed career choices

Open Spaces Department Business Plan:

 People enjoy good health and wellbeing 
 Nature, heritage and place are valued and understood 
 People feel welcome and included 
 People discover, learn and develop 

Funding

Grant funding was provided by City Bridge Trust (CBT) on a tapering three-year grant (£220k, 
£130k, £50k).  The aspiration was to raise additional funds through external grants and school fees, 
and for the programme to become self-sustaining.  

Income generation through the school service was successful, and raised £27k, £41k and £42k per 
year (whilst addressing cost barriers for schools by partnering with the City of London/Culture Mile 
School Visits Fund).

Whilst some additional funding was provided by the Ernest Cook Trust (10k) and the Company of 
Actuaries Charitable Trust (£5k), efforts to obtain sufficient additional grant funding were not 
successful as most funders do not fund existing projects, and the reputation of the City as a wealthy 
organisation hindered fundraising efforts. To meet the shortfall, City Cash contribution / Open 
Spaces Department underspend provided £200k in 2017/18 and 2018/19, and a Priority Investment 
Pot bid provided £87k in 2018/19 to meet the annual running cost of £382k. 

Page 17



10

Impact areas 

To tackle the challenge of a growing disconnect with nature and green spaces, the learning team 
designed programmes to effect change across five impact areas:

Understanding Confidence Nature 
connection

Wellbeing Involvement

People 
understand the 
value and 
importance of 
green space

People are 
confident to use 
green spaces, 
as part of our 
activities or 
independently

People develop 
a sense of 
place with 
green spaces

People have 
restorative and 
meaningful 
experiences in 
green spaces

People take 
positive action 
for, and get 
involved with, 
green spaces

To maximise impact, the learning team targeted our programmes to reach those who could benefit 
the most, including school children growing up in poverty, young people excluded from mainstream 
schooling, and local people from communities that were under-represented in our green spaces.  
Ambitious output targets were set for participation.  Measuring our impact was seen as vital, and the 
team collaborated with academic partners at Derby University to create a bespoke evaluation 
toolkit. 

Learning principles

The team developed a set of learning principles for schools and play (see Appendix 2) which have 
informed the programme’s development.  The development of the principles involved combining 
relevant research with the professional expertise of learning team members to create a shared 
approach to learning programme development and delivery. Team members’ professional expertise 
(accumulated over time through reflection on experience of learning programme development, 
delivery and evaluation) was valued from the start and cross-referenced with academic research. 

Recognising the importance of children having time to explore green spaces to build connection and 
confidence, and emphasising doing and discovering to support participants as active learners, are 
just some highlights from these principles.    

The principles: 

 map across the five impact areas 
 bring together the expertise of the team and relevant research  
 enable shared reflective practice and a shared vision for quality learning
 increase the level of active engagement of participants
 provide a tool for effective decision making and peer review

Learning officers were invited to showcase their work on the principles at the National Sustainable 
Schools Conference and the London Environmental Education Forum.

Page 18



11

Programme delivery and team expertise

A GSLP team was created to develop and deliver the programme, bringing together expertise in 
outdoor learning, schools, play, volunteering and youth work. Nine full time officers and one part 
time officer were located at the key delivery sites (Hampstead Heath, Epping Forest and West Ham 
Park), and an additional pool of casual educators and play workers supported programme delivery 
on Hampstead Heath. 

Programmes 

The three-year programme delivered:

 Four innovative community-based projects: Green Talent, Wild Schools, Wild East and Playing 
Wild

 Two reinvigorated school services (Hampstead Heath and Epping Forest) 
 Two revitalised play centres (Hampstead Heath)
 A volunteering programme.

Green Talent 

Overview

Green Talent worked with young people struggling in education and/or furthest from the job market, 
providing opportunities to explore careers in the environmental and green spaces sector. Based at 
Hampstead Heath and targeting 13 – 18 year olds, as well as 19 - 25 year olds with additional 
support needs, the programme provided facilitated opportunities for young people to recognise and 
develop their individual talents and skills.  For example, completing outdoor conservation tasks 
boosted resilience, confidence and self-esteem through the achievement of purposeful goals, and 
activities such as sharing food around a fire helped to build peer relationships by opening dialogues 
around a shared new experience. 

The project included a number of bespoke sessions for groups including Young Carers and Grenfell 
Families, and delivered sessions for students at five Pupil Referral Units across Brent, Barnet and 
Haringey.

Green Talent participants learning and contributing through environmental conservation tasks

Page 19



12

Accreditation

To enable the young people to obtain credits for their work, which helped them and others to 
recognise their achievements, the Green Talent Programme was accredited with ASDAN (a 
curriculum development and awarding organisation), to offer  a  flexible, multi-level programme in 
land-based sector vocational training. 

Feedback

Comments from participants show how the programme has boosted their confidence and 
broadened their skills, knowledge and horizons - both of which are key to enabling people to expand 
their career and life opportunities: 

 “The work experience placement really boosted my confidence, I really enjoyed 
being able to do lots of different activities.  I found the whole thing very motivational 
and calming”

 “I feel ready for work and less scared”

 “I felt really involved here, like my opinions mattered so I’d be really happy to come back”

Project targets

The project exceeded most of the target outputs set at the start of the GSLP programme: 

Programme 
Strands

Target Actual Notes

Number of young 
people participating 
in one day taster 
events

100 221 Achieved

Number of one day 
taster events 
delivered

30 18 We ran fewer one day taster 
events, however, we exceeded 
the participation target 

Number of 
volunteers recruited 
and trained to help 
deliver the events

5 19 Achieved

Number of young 
people participating 
in longer term 
placements 
(minimum 2 weeks)

6 54 Achieved

Included placements of 26 
weeks for young people at pupil 
referral units

Total number of 
young people 
participating in the 
programme 

184 388 Achieved

Page 20



13

Partnership working 

Green Talent worked with partner organisations to develop the project and improve its reach. Key 
partners included:

London Ambitions – a London Assembly-led careers programme to match young people with 
employer-based activities

London Youth – a charity working to give young people access to new and enriching opportunities 

The Winch – a Camden based Youth Club working as part of ‘North Camden Zone’ to improve the 
life outcomes for young people growing up in North Camden

Capel Manor – a college offering training and qualifications in land-based subjects (horticulture, 
groundsmanship, garden design, etc.).

Additional achievements 

 The Green Talent programme was shortlisted for the 2018 Horticulture Week Custodian 
Award for Best Community Initiative

Page 21



14

Wild Schools

Overview

Wild Schools took a full-school approach with a small number of London’s inner-city primary 
schools, working to embed outdoor learning in West Ham Park within the schools’ practice. 

West Ham Park is located in Newham, which is ranked in the worst four London boroughs for child 
poverty (Trust for London). 

Building relationships with a small number of local schools, enabling repeat visits from multiple year 
groups, and working collaboratively with teachers to produce relevant outdoor learning sessions 
was key. Set up to tackle the many barriers that exist to schools using their local green spaces, 
including teacher confidence, health and safety concerns and a lack of understanding of how the 
natural world can be linked to various curriculum subjects, the project worked directly with teachers 
and students to deliver a cross curricular learning programme.  

Programmes included a hands-on maths trail which enabled children to apply their maths skills to 
solving practical challenges, immersive multi-sensory workshops to stimulate creative writing, 
exploration of habitats (e.g. pond dipping), and exploration of local history (e.g. uncovering 
allotments from WW2 and exploring life for local people through considering  the meals they 
could/could not produce). 

The project delivered regular forest school sessions for local Special Educational Needs & Disability 
(SEND) students, giving these children  time to build confidence and skills together. Regular sessions 
where children could choose activities of interest to them and contribute to the maintenance of the 
outdoor space developed a great sense of ownership. Activities such as creating and experiencing 
the warmth of a fire on a snowy day provided them with a distinctive and memorable experience which 
facilitated a deeper connection with the space. 

Local school children contributing to the development of a new 
wildlife garden as part of a regular Forest School session

A shelter designed and built by 
children attending regular 
sessions for local SEND students

Page 22



15

Project targets 

The project exceeded the participation targets for number of primary school students and number of 
schools. In response to teacher feedback, the programme did not run as many CPD sessions or 
assemblies as planned at the outset.

Programme strands Target Actual Notes
Number of primary 
school children 
engaged in the project

9,000 10,625 Achieved

Number of schools 
engaged in the project

15 22 Achieved
890 outdoor sessions were delivered 
across 22 schools.

Number of volunteers 
are recruited and 
trained to help deliver 
the sessions

10 23 Achieved

Number of CPD 
sessions are delivered 
to teachers 
participating in the 
project

30 18 Formal CPD sessions have been 
delivered as part of whole staff after 
school INSET sessions and also with 
smaller groups of teachers to help 
with delivering specific areas of the 
curriculum outside.

In consultation with schools, 
alternative methods were also used to 
upskill teachers, including session 
observation with one-to-one follow-up 
discussions, support for teachers 
working towards Forest School 
qualifications, and working with 
teachers and students to create 
wildlife areas within their school 
grounds.

Number of assemblies 
are delivered to 
schools participating 
in the project

30 3 In consultation with schools, 
alternative methods were used for 
whole school participation, which 
focused on outdoor engagement.  
These included a whole school ‘Maths 
Trail’ developed in conjunction with 
Elmhurst Primary and rolled out to our 
other partner schools, and working 
with students and teachers to create 
wildlife areas within their school 
grounds.

Number of nature 
friendly schools 
outreach sessions are 
delivered by the 
RSPB to participating 
schools

15 0 This was not possible due to a 
restructuring at the RSPB

Page 23



16

Feedback

“Fantastic activity! All the children very excited throughout. Naturally using strong language without 
being prompted. Carefully planned and executed activity. Thank you for providing reception children 
with a wonderful experience” Teacher, Wild Schools

Reaching disadvantaged children

Through monitoring school pupil premium as an indicator of disadvantage, we know that Wild 
Schools have reached a significant numbers of these students. 100% of the visits were from state 
schools, and of these students, 5,737 (57%) were eligible for pupil premium, compared to an 
average of 37.7% for inner London.

Pupil premium is an indicator of disadvantage as it is allocated to children who have been in receipt 
of free school meals, looked after or adopted from care. 

See appendix 3 for maps illustrating the programme reach within areas of deprivation.  

Additional achievements

 The project introduced school groups to Wanstead Flats, including a programme for school 
children to create artwork inspired by their visits which was then displayed in a local library 
(Forest Gate Curve). The children’s work helped to develop knowledge of Wanstead Flats 
wildlife within the local community

 Regular sessions where developed for a school for children with autism. The specialist 
teachers commented that they were really impressed and delighted with the positive effects 
the outdoor programme had on the children’s learning

 A new wildlife garden area was created in West Ham Park which provides an additional 
space for learning activities, including providing a quiet and private space for groups with 
autism, and a space in which local school children and volunteers can contribute to habitat 
maintenance. Strong collaboration between the Learning and West Ham Park teams 
ensured that the garden design and development provided a rich environment for learning.

School children making observational 
drawings at Wanstead Flats, in 
preparation for collage making.

One of the Wanstead Flats collages 
produce by the children following their 
visits to the site.

Page 24



17

Wild East

Overview

Wild East delivered exciting mobile events for families in West Ham Park and Wanstead Flats.  
Using bespoke interpretation tricycles and fun activities, volunteers encouraged families to learn 
more about the natural environment and build confidence to use their green spaces. Activities such 
as making bird feeders and identifying local birds helped people connect to nature in their local 
green space by making close observations, recognising similarities and differences, and playing a 
part in conserving local species.  The activities enabled participants to be physically active, connect 
socially, learn new skills, contribute, and spend time outdoors, all of which can contribute to 
improved health and wellbeing.  

The programme targeted families and communities in Newham and Redbridge.  Newham is a 
multicultural borough ranked in the worst four London boroughs for poverty (Trust for London).  

The Wild East interpretation tricycle on Wanstead Flats

Reaching under-represented local community groups

The programme worked with a variety of under-represented local community groups, including:

- Hibiscus Caribbean Elderly Association
- EKTA Project (Community of Asian older people, including fragile, isolated, mildly confused and 

disabled people)
- Sheba Project (charity working with a variety local groups including refugees and unemployed 

people)
- ‘Together!’ (community group of artists with disabilities)
- Community mental health service user groups 

Page 25



18

By taking the time to listen and understand the barriers to accessing open spaces, the programme 
successfully facilitated first-time visits to the open spaces. Support to plan a visit (such as how to 
get there, knowing where the toilets are and choosing a spot for a picnic), a warm welcome and a 
short tour helped new groups to feel safe, valued and supported. A facilitated first-time visit to West 
Ham Park for disabled artists ‘Together’ led to a number of subsequent visits including a painting 
trip to Wanstead Flats and participation in a botanical drawing event at West Ham Park. Groups 
were also introduced to ‘Friends of West Ham Park’ (a local residents group who run activities in the 
park) leading to further opportunities for participation.

Project targets: 

The project performed well against participation targets set at the start of the GSLP programme, 
however, there were challenges in engaging local volunteers. 

Programme strands Target Actual Notes
Number of participants in 
family guerrilla 
interpretation events 
focusing on building 
connections with nature

4000 4134 Achieved

Number of volunteers 
trained to deliver guerrilla 
interpretation events

45 17 Below target

See ‘key challenges and 
recommendations for the 
future programme’ p31

Number of RSPB family 
events participants

800 1031 Achieved

Number of interpretation 
kits developed

6 10 Achieved

Bespoke sessions for 
community groups

9 15 Achieved

Feedback

“Many a family cannot afford summer holidays abroad - missing out on refreshing and enriching 
experiences. For these families, parks are vital, and we need to unlock these spaces so as we enjoy 
their full potential.” - Wild East participant, West Ham Park

“To be honest, I just thought it was football pitches. I had no idea all this nature was here”. Wild East 
Participant, Wanstead Flats

Additional achievements

 53% of Wild East participants were from black, Asian and minority ethnic groups (BAME).  

Page 26



19

Playing Wild

Overview

Playing Wild addressed barriers to connection with nature through targeting families with under-5s 
through natural play activities on Hampstead Heath and Queens Park. The programme provided 
drop-in natural play events, designed to help families explore the natural world, understand the risks 
and benefits of natural play, and increase their confidence to play in natural settings. Working in 
partnership with a range of local nurseries, play groups and family centres, activities were 
developed to meet their needs, breaking down the barriers of playing outside through building 
confidence in both parents and children. 

Playing Wild participant exploring on Hampstead Heath

Whilst the programme consulted regularly with local people, worked in partnership with local family 
and early years centres, and delivered events designed to meet the needs of the target audience, 
session uptake was low.  It was felt that the One O’clock Club was a more effective mechanism for 
working with local families (see lessons learned).

The programme also developed six-week Playing Wild training courses for both parents and early 
years practitioners, providing them with the knowledge, confidence and skills to play with young 
children outdoors independently.  Participants are provided with playing wild kits to ensure that they 
can continue to play wild after the course has finished.  A Playing Wild trail has also been 
developed for independent use in the Parliament Hill Fields area (south end of Hampstead Heath). 

Page 27



20

Project targets

The project achieved many of the targets set at the beginning of the thee year GSLP programme, 
however, numbers participating in the natural play events were very low. 

Programme strands Target Actual Notes
Number of  bespoke 
events working with local 
early years or family 
centres

15 24 Achieved
677 participants attended 

Number of natural play 
events are delivered

90 91 Achieved

Number of parents and 
under-5s participating in 
Playing Wild natural play 
events

2,000 493 Below target
See ‘key challenges and 
recommendations for the 
future programme’ p31

Number of volunteers are 
recruited and trained to 
help deliver the events

10 8

Number of  networks of 
parents developed to 
provide continuing 
support

1 0 The project engaged with 
‘Camden Connecting 
Parents’ and ‘North 
Camden Zone, however, a 
Playing Wild network was 
not viable due to the 
relatively low numbers 
attending the Playing Wild 
programme. The 
programme adapted by 
creating a training 
programme to bring 
parents and practitioners 
together. 

Additional achievements

The project delivered drop-in family learning activities at a variety of events including the ‘Give it a 
Go’ festival at Hampstead Heath and the Christmas Fair at The View in Epping Forest, reaching 
1,205 participants. 

Page 28



21

Two reinvigorated school services (Hampstead Heath and Epping Forest) 

Overview

High quality booked sessions were delivered to a wide range of schools at our Epping Forest and 
Hampstead Heath education centres. 

The Epping Forest programme was based at The View visitor centre near Chingford, with sessions 
delivered in the adjacent forest and Tudor hunting lodge. The Hampstead Heath Programme 
operated from the Education Centre building in Parliament Hill Fields and the ‘Glassroom 
Classroom’ in Golders Hill Park, with sessions delivered in bespoke teaching gardens as well as the 
wider Heath. Both sites provided a variety of habitats for exploration. 

Brand new sessions were developed to support the National Curriculum and promote awe, wonder 
and inspiration as children learned through active engagement with the open spaces.  Based on the 
unique features of the sites and the needs of schools, the programme provided rich opportunities to:

- Learn through first hand observation (e.g. exploring habitats, life cycles, seasons)
- Stimulate the imagination (e.g. creating stories inspired by nature, creating art work using 

natural materials)
- Give children an active role (e.g. pond dipping, orienteering, field work)
- Enable children to see the relevance and application of their knowledge and skills beyond the 

classroom (e.g. solving a real-life practical challenge such as assessing pond health or testing 
materials to build a dam)

- Uncover evidence of local history (e.g. finding bomb craters in the Epping Forest site)
- Develop team working skills (e.g. team den building). 

Programmes were offered from nursery to A level, with most visits coming from primary schools.

Primary school group learning from nature on Hampstead Heath

Page 29



22

Feedback

“An informative and engaging day that sparked a love of nature in our students” school 
teacher

“A wonderful facility and resource in the heart of London that enables essential learning for 
inner city children” school teacher

“This is my first experience in nature, I have a bond with nature, but my mum can’t take me 
to the park” primary school student

“I found them (activities) very exciting and very helpful for my learning” primary school 
student.

Project targets

The schools service exceeded the participation targets set at the start of the GSLP programme: 

Programme strands Target Actual Notes
Number of  school 
students attending school 
sessions at Epping 
Forest

5,125 7,737 Achieved

Number of school 
students attending school 
sessions at Hampstead 
Heath

15,375 24,225 Achieved

Reaching disadvantaged children

Through monitoring school pupil premium as an indicator of disadvantage, we know that the school 
services have reached a significant number of these students:  

At Epping Forest, 86% of our school visits were from state schools, accounting for 6,654 students. 
Of these students, 2,129 (32%) were eligible for pupil premium. The average pupil premium for 
outer London is 28.2%.

At Hampstead Heath, 70% of our school visits were from state schools, accounting for 16,958 
students. Of these students, 6,444 (38%) were eligible for pupil premium. The average pupil 
premium for inner London is 37.7%.

See appendix 3 for maps illustrating the school programme reach within areas of deprivation. 

Partnerships

The school service has worked in partnership with Culture Mile Learning, London Environmental 
Education Forum (LEEF), Field Studies Council and Waltham Forest Music Education Hub 
(WFHEH).  Highlights include co-delivery of training days for LEEF, working with WFMEH to 
develop an Epping Forest artist-in-residence learning programme for schools, and working with 
Culture Mile Learning to develop a shared evaluation framework. 

Page 30



23

Additional achievements

 A new approach was developed and launched for secondary schools, allowing teachers the 
flexibility to combine onsite, classroom and online resources. A new web pages provided a 
menu of activities linked to key themes such as careers, working scientifically and 
environmental change.  Resources included inspiring films of career role models from within the 
Open Spaces department. 

 The team were asked to show case their work in school programme development at the 
National Sustainable Schools Conference and the London Environmental Education Forum

 100% of participating teachers reporting that their learning outcomes have been met

 The programme has engaged with 250 pupils from two City Academies: Highgate Hill and 
Hackney.  Teachers commented that the programmes supported the students in seeing the 
relevance of their learning beyond the classroom, which is vital in raising aspirations.

  

Page 31



24

Two reinvigorated play centres (Hampstead Heath):

Overview

Two play centres at Hampstead Heath provided both indoor and outdoor play facilities, with an 
Adventure Clubhouse providing play facilities for under-16s, and a One O’clock Club providing play 
facilities for under-fives and their parents/carers. The centres are located in the south of the Heath, 
close to areas of deprivation such as Gospel Oak ward where there is 39% child poverty (Open 
Data, Camden Council). 

During opening hours, the play centres were staffed by playworkers who were able to support 
young people’s play and learning. The Adventure Clubhouse is open from April to October, offering 
a school holiday programme and after school provision. The One O’clock Club is open all year 
round, offering afternoon sessions every weekday. 

Both provisions were free to access and provided a space where children could play and engage in 
activities that they had freely chosen, including both facilitated play and free play.  Outdoor play 
included den building, sand, mud and water play, obstacle courses and circus skills. Indoor activities 
included mask making, leaf printing and badge making. At the Adventure Clubhouse, outdoor 
adventure play structures were also provided. 

Children over the age of eight were able to visit without an accompanying adult, which enabled 
children whose parents/carers are not able to take them to activities outside school to participate. 

“It’s so nice to know my 8 and 10 year old can come and get involved in the play outside and 
activities at the Adventure Clubhouse and always feel welcome, as we live in a tower block 
and my children can’t play out where we live” Parent, Adventure Clubhouse  

Water slide at the Adventure Clubhouse ‘Mud kitchen’ at the One O’clock Club

Page 32



25

Project targets

The play service exceeded the overall participation target set at the start of the GSLP programme, 
however, at the One O’clock Club, the number of adult participants was slightly lower than the target. 

Programme strands Target Actual Notes

Number of young people 
attending the Clubhouse

24,000 26,063 Achieved

Number of under-5s 
attending the One 
O’clock Club

24,000 26,123 Achieved

Number of adults 
attending the One 
O’clock Club

21,000 19,870 The ratio of adults to 
children was 1:1.3 (actual) 
rather that1:1.1 (target)

Total number of 
participants

69,000 72,056 Achieved

Community cohesion

The play centres are located adjacent to the borough of Camden, which is ranked in the worst four 
London boroughs for income inequality (Trust for London). 

The play centres bring individuals and communities together to share experiences and promote 
mutual respect and tolerance. Analysis of postcode data from participants shows that the centres 
are engaging people from wards where poverty is high, such as Gospel Oak and Haverstock, as 
well as wards in which most areas are affluent, such as Hampstead Town.  The play facility provides 
an open, welcoming space in which communities can meet and engage in a shared interest 
regardless of background and circumstance, thus supporting community cohesion. 

“It's a home from home. A safe and wonderful environment to flourish and for confidence to 
grow.” Parent, Adventure Clubhouse 

Additional achievements 

 Detailed designs were produced for improved outdoor play areas

In 2016, a review of the play centres identified that the facilities were not aligned to the strategic aim 
of engaging people with green spaces due to their reliance on traditional play structures.  In 
addition, the learning team audited the play spaces for accessibility and identified barriers and gaps 
in the provision.

The learning team worked with colleagues at Hampstead Heath to create a set of design criteria for 
improved outdoor play spaces, with the aims of emphasising natural play and exploration, improving 
accessibility, catering for a range of styles of play, and providing graded challenges to enable 
children to take risks and learn at their own pace. 

Working with specialist designers and play centre visitors, detailed design and costs for improved 
outdoor play provision were created. The first construction phase is planned for November 2019. 

Page 33



26

Volunteering

Overview

The learning volunteering programme created a new Vision for Volunteering which positioned 
volunteers as beneficiaries of the programme, and defined goals for the volunteering experience:  

- A volunteer’s experience with us stimulates well-being and connection to the green spaces with 
which they are involved.

- Each hour spent volunteering benefits the green space, the individual and their community 
through the fulfilment of a rewarding and achievable task or role.

- Our volunteers represent the diversity of local communities surrounding, accessing and 
benefiting from our green spaces. We reach out into marginalised and disenfranchised sections 
of society.

- Volunteers are valued for helping to shape green spaces, through hands-on involvement and by 
championing their benefits. 

The GSLP programme provided a number of volunteering opportunities, aiming to develop a team 

of volunteers representative of the local communities surrounding our Open Spaces. 

Key outputs

 Development of new volunteer roles across the GSLP programme, including  Wild East 
Ambassador, Wild Schools Learning Volunteer and Evaluation Volunteer

 The development of a recruitment, selection and induction guidance, procedures and 
templates to support the learning team with volunteer management and retention

 Development of a volunteer agreement to manage expectations and responsibility 

 A volunteer policy

 A training programme for volunteers

 A training programme for staff managing volunteers

 Project targets

Programme strands Target Actual Notes

Number of learning 
volunteers recruited

90 72 Below target
See ‘key challenges and 
recommendations for the 
future programme’ p31

Page 34



27

Learning volunteer assisting with the creation of a ‘story tent’ for schools in the newly developed wildlife 
garden at West Ham Park

Partnerships

The learning volunteer programme worked with partner organisations to reach and engage new 
volunteers. Key partners included:

Active Newham  - Charitable Trust working in partnership with Newham Council to deliver 
volunteering opportunities in Newham

Team London – London Assembly led programme linking potential volunteers and volunteering 
opportunities

Capel Manor – a college offering training and qualifications in land-based subjects (horticulture, 
groundsmanship, garden design, etc.).

University College London, University of East London, Queen Mary University  – universities with 
strong student volunteering programmes

Additional achievements

 The GSLP programme has championed volunteering across the Open Spaces department, 
providing support to staff supervising volunteers. Outputs include a range of training 
opportunities, policies, procedures and guidance documents to help with recruitment, 
engagement and management of volunteers

 A Departmental  Volunteering Steering group was established  to develop a positive and 
productive volunteering practice across Open Spaces

 The GSLP Volunteer Officer represents the Open Spaces Department in the City of London 
Volunteering Working Group

Page 35



28

Summary of participation  

The learning programme has reached 121,978 participants in the first three years of delivery 
(April 2016 – March 2019),16% above the target of 105,276.  

The following graph illustrates the participation figures across the programme.

The programme reached 

 32,695 participants aged 0 – 5 
 68,550 participants aged 5 – 18 
 20,473 participants aged 18+

Evaluation toolkit and impact measures

The Learning Team worked in collaboration with researchers at the University of Derby to develop a 
bespoke evaluation toolkit. The objective of the mixed-methods evaluation, combining qualitative 
and quantitative methods, was to evaluate whether participation in the programmes increased 
understanding, wellbeing, nature connection, confidence, and involvement. 

No suitable evaluation toolkit had been developed within the sector due to challenges around 
measuring impact areas which are multi-faceted and subjective, and the successful development of 
a pioneering evaluation toolkit is a key achievement for the team.  

Data from programme participants before, during, and after having taken part in the programmes 
was collected for participants in the Schools’ Programme, Green Talent and Playing Wild.

Page 36



29

The evaluation toolkit, mapped against the five impact areas, consisted of a mixture of survey and 
interview questions, and observational indicators.  

1) survey questions 

 2) interview questions

3) observation indicators (behavioural indicators that operationalised the five impact dimensions, 
e.g. asking relevant questions was an indicator of understanding and non-verbal expressions – e.g. 
happiness, wonder, calm was an indicator of wellbeing).

4) a drawing activity (for children under the age of 5).

The team recruited evaluation volunteers to carry out the observations and interviews.

Qualitative data analysis

Survey questions, developed to elicit responses across each of the five impact areas, were used to 
collect qualitative data for the School and Green Talent programmes using a 1 – 4 scale (where 1= 
negative, 2 = neutral, 3 = positive, and 4 = very positive).  Due to the young age of the Playing Wild 
participants, it was not appropriate to collect responses to the survey questions. 

All data analysis was carried out independently by the University of Derby, which concluded that the 
programmes significantly improved participants’ ratings of the five impact dimensions when 
comparing self-reports taken before and after participating in the programme. The increase from 
baseline to follow-up scores is seen as statistically significant; in other words, the probability of the 
observed differences was greater than would be expected due to chance.  

The following charts show increases for primary school participants after spending just two hours in 
a facilitated learning session, as well as larger increases for Green Talent participants who attend 
for whole days, intensive weeks, and weekly sessions over a school term. 

Understanding Wellbeing Connection Confidence Involvement
3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

Impact Dimensions for Primary Schools Baseline

Impact Dimensions for Primary Schools Follow-up

Impact Dimensions for Primary Schools

M
ea

n 
se

lf-
ra

tin
g 

sc
or

es
 

(M
ax

 4
)

Page 37



30

Understanding Wellbeing Connection Confidence Involvement
0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

Impact Dimensions for Green Talent Baseline

Impact Dimensions for Green Talent Follow-up

Impact Dimensions for Green Talent

M
ea

n 
se

lf-
ra

tin
g 

sc
or

es
 

(M
ax

 4
)

Qualitative data analysis

A commentary on the qualitative data analysis (interviews, observations and drawings) for the 
School, Green Talent and Playing Wild programmes is available within the full evaluation report.  
The researchers concluded that the insights provided into participant’s thoughts and behaviours 
suggested that they were positively influenced by their engagement with the programme. For 
example, drawings from Playing Wild participants developed from pictures which did not include 
people to pictures of people engaging with nature (e.g. attending to flowers) after participation in six 
weekly sessions, suggesting a shift in participants’ understanding and sense of connection. 

Comments from interviews with school and Green Talent participants were very positive. Relevant 
comments include: 

 “I feel free when I’m outside”

 “I don’t usually go out much, but I have found that I enjoy making a difference to the local 
park”

 “The work experience placement really boosted my confidence”

 “Very adventurous. Like a special time. Can experience mother nature.”

 “Usually I would get tired and bored. I may be tired now but I’m not bored. It’s been so fun.”

The full evaluation report is available from Abigail.tinkler@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Additional achievements 

A paper has been accepted for publication in the Journal for Environmental Education, showcasing 
the development of the evaluation toolkit and the success of the programme across the five impact 
areas. The paper is co-authored by the GSLP team and researchers from Derby University. 

Page 38

mailto:Abigail.tinkler@cityoflondon.gov.uk


31

Key challenges and recommendations for the future programme

1) The Playing Wild project struggled to attract and maintain audiences, despite regular 
consultation, partnership working and trialling a variety of locations and timings for activities. 
It was also challenging to engage audiences with trialling the Playing Wild play trail. At the 
same time, the One O’clock Club was engaging the same audiences (local children under-
five and their parents/carers) very effectively, with participants enjoying the mix of indoor and 
outdoor spaces, and combination of play with children and a chance to spend time with other 
parents/carers.  The school programme also attracted nursery and reception classes through 
its bookable workshop programme (3,617 early years students attended the school 
programme at Hampstead Heath). Going forward, we will focus our work with under-fives via 
the One O’clock Club and schools programme, and invest time in increasing opportunities 
for nature play within these.

2) The Wild East project set out to engage volunteers from deprived communities close to West 
Ham Park, empowering the volunteers to lead the delivery of a family engagement 
programme and replicating a successful model from Hampstead Heath. The project officer 
spent time meeting community groups under-represented in the park, and this consultation 
told us that whilst some members of the community were interested in visiting and being 
involved in other ways, often volunteering on the family engagement programme wasn’t 
appealing to them. The project adapted to this feedback by facilitating flexible visits from 
community groups who had not visited West Ham Park or Wanstead Flats previously, whilst 
recruiting volunteers from a wider pool to help facilitate the family learning programme. 

Going forward, the volunteer development role within the team will have a combined remit of 
community and volunteer engagement, and work closely with learning team colleagues to 
engage under-represented local communities, ensuring that consultation, observation and 
research inform our approach to increasing volunteer representation from these groups.  

3) Having only one staff member based at the Epping Forest site created challenges around 
staffing through sickness and annual leave, and challenges around lone working in remote 
sites. Going forward, staffing will be reallocated to enable an additional school officer to work 
across Epping Forest and Hampstead Heath, and Education Rangers will also work across 
both sites, to create a more robust staffing system and enable further programme growth.

4) The aspiration to raise additional funds through external grants once the programme had 
launched was challenging as most funders do not fund existing projects, and the reputation 
of the City as a wealthy organisation hindered fundraising efforts. Going forward, the 
programme will be funded by an agreed £395k increase to the Open Spaces Department 
local risk resource base (subject to the Fundamental Review), and the team will also pilot 
new initiatives and seek additional funding to develop these.

Page 39



32

The future for the learning programme 

An agreed £395k increase to the Open Spaces Department local risk resource base (subject to the 
Fundamental Review) will enable the Open spaces learning team to provide a core offer of:

 Schools service operating out of Hampstead Heath, Epping Forest, West Ham Park

 Green Talent programme working with young people who are experiencing 
disadvantage 

 Volunteer development and community outreach work

 Play facilities for under-16s and under-5s and their carers at Hampstead Heath. 

The team will also pilot new initiatives and seek additional funding to develop these.

The Open Spaces learning team will continue to connect people with their local green spaces, 
reaching beyond the Square Mile and making a vital contribution to the delivery of the City of 
London Corporate Plan, Education Strategy, Social Mobility Strategy and Open Spaces Department 
Business Plan. Building on success, we will further develop the school and Green Talent 
programmes, to enable more young people to participate, and recruit more schools with higher than 
average numbers of students in receipt of pupil premium. 

The team will work closely with other learning teams within Open Spaces (Keats House, Tower 
Bridge, Kenley Common) and engage more widely with City Corporation via Culture Mile Learning.  

The team will build on their work on evaluation and use their findings to refine and develop 
programmes to successfully engage audiences and deliver key outcomes. 

A shared set of performance indicators has been developed for learning across Open Spaces, and 
from 2019 data will be collected from Kenley Common, Keats House and Tower Bridge as well as 
the GSLP programmes at West Ham Park, Epping Forest and Hampstead Heath.  This data will 
monitor progress against a set of shared indicators which align with outcomes from the City of 
London Corporate Plan and provide shared methods of data collection.  

Page 40



33

Appendix Two

Open Spaces learning principles for schools 

We facilitate learning through active engagement with our unique spaces. We are learner-centred and provide fun and inspiring activities which support and enrich the National Curriculum. Through defining the 
following outcomes and principles we seek to align our practice with findings from relevant research, and to contribute to the delivery of the Open Spaces impact areas for learning. 

Outcomes Children increase their knowledge, 
skills and understanding  

Children conceptually link the site,  
their learning, and the wider world 

Children  explore freely and take 
part in playful, fun and enjoyable 
experiences   

Children feel safe,  confident and 
empowered to learn  

Children begin to connect with  
green spaces 

Principles - Cater to different learning styles 
and ensure pace and variety 

- Enable children to develop 
transferable skills e.g. team 
work and working scientifically

- Support and enrich the National 
Curriculum

- Have clear outcomes focusing 
on quality not quantity

- Ensure all information is fact-
checked

- Challenge assumptions
- Give adults clear roles and 

guidance to enhance children’s 
learning

- Ensure sessions flow and have 
structure

- Assess children’s knowledge, 
skills and understanding, and 
scaffold/question/challenge/sup
port as appropriate

- Make relevant links between 
learning in open spaces with 
schools and home

Create opportunities for children to….

-  apply their learning in a new 
context

- relate new learning to prior 
experience or knowledge

- see the relevance and 
application of their knowledge 
and skills in the wider world 
(e.g. relate their skills to 
careers, take part in real 
conservation work)

- Tailor your approach: respond 
dynamically to the individual 
group

Create opportunities for children to….

- have fun
- explore
- spend time doing and 

discovering 
- be creative and imaginative
- assess and take risks
- play games
- use their senses
- be surprised

- Follow Safe systems of Work 
(SSOW) and communicate with 
the group re how they will be 
safe in the space.

-  Be present for children who 
appear unsure or afraid  - work 
in partnership with teachers to 
listen and support. 

- Provide activities which are  
both challenging and 
achievable

- Encourage and respect 
children’s ideas 

- Ask meaningful and relevant 
questions which enable children 
to take part in reflective 
conversations

- Be inclusive by providing 
children with variety and choice

- Provide opportunities for 
children to take ownership of 
their learning through choice 
and opportunities to lead

- Be welcoming and build initial 
relationship with group

- Provide opportunities to work 
both in groups and individually

- Maximise the unique 
opportunities that your site 
provides

- Provide opportunities to  be 
outside, explore and take part in 
memorable activities 

- Communicate to children that 
they can visit the space freely in 
the future

- Role model, discuss and 
provide opportunities for caring 
for living things

- Find beauty and magic in 
nature, e.g. hugging a tree, 
listening to sounds of nature

- Give children time to simply 
connect through their own 
exploration or having time to sit 
quietly

- Enable children to interact with 
the site and build memories 
(e.g. create objects/art  to leave 
on site or take back to 
school/home)

Learning 
strategy 
impact areas

Understanding Understanding Understanding, confidence, 
wellbeing, connection

Confidence Connection

P
age 41



34

Open Spaces learning principles for play

 We are child-centred in our approach, and provide fun and creative activities which support and enrich child development.  We seek to create inclusive play opportunities which inspire children to connect with green 
spaces. Through defining the following outcomes and principles we seek to align our practice with findings from relevant research, and to contribute to delivery of the Open Spaces Learning Strategy. 

Outcomes Children are free to play, 
explore, be imaginative and 
take part in fun and enjoyable 
experiences

Children are respected and 
our approach is child-centred

Children feel safe, confident 
and empowered to learn

Children begin to connect with 
green spaces

Parents and carers 
become more aware of the 
importance of play and are 
more involved 

Space design invites and 
enables play 
4, 5

Principles Provide a rich range of 
resources to choose from
Provide a mix of self-directed 
and structured play 
opportunities, scaffolding 
according to the needs of the 
child
Understand and respect that 
children can enter into 
imaginary worlds, exploring 
life and make connections 
between real and imagined 
experiences  ( Bob Hughes 
taxonomy of play) 1
Create opportunities for 
children to:
- Have fun
- Explore
- Spend time doing and 

discovering
- Be creative and 

imaginative
- Assess and take risks
- Play games
- Use their senses
- Be surprised

Uphold the UN convention 
on children’s rights 2 and the 
Play England play charter 3
Accept each child as they 
are (although certain 
behaviours are not 
acceptable in our spaces)
Understand and respect 
children’s play cycles and 
play cues
Be present and aware of own 
impact, choosing when to 
step back and when to 
support. 
Consult children on changes 
to our play facilities

- Follow SSOWs 
-  Be present for children 

who appear unsure or 
afraid

- Provide activities which 
are  both challenging 
and achievable

- Encourage and respect 
children’s ideas 

- Be inclusive by 
providing children with 
variety and choice

- Provide opportunities 
for children to take 
ownership of their play 
through providing 
choice and respecting 
their ideas and 
decisions.

- Be welcoming and build 
initial relationship with 
visitors

Provide opportunities to work 
both in groups and 
individually
Provide opportunities for 
children to take risks and 
make judgements

- Maximise the unique 
opportunities that your 
site provides

- Provide opportunities to  
be outside, explore and 
take part in memorable 
activities 

- Communicate to children 
that they can visit the 
space freely in the future

- Role model, discuss and 
provide opportunities for 
caring for living things

- Find beauty and magic in 
nature, e.g. hugging a 
tree, listening to sounds 
of nature

- Give children time to 
simply connect through 
their own exploration or 
having time to sit quietly

- Enable children to 
interact with the site and 
build memories (e.g. 
create objects/art  to 
leave on site or take 
back to home)

The value of play is 
communicated to adults 
(e.g. conversations, signs, 
leaflets)
There are opportunities for 
adults to get involved in 
activities
Space design considers 
opportunities for adult 
involvement (e.g. different 
sized tunnels or gateways 
for adults and children)

The play space will:
- stimulate the five 

senses
- allow social 

interaction
- allow a range of 

movements and 
physical activity 
through and around 
the space

- harmonise with and 
enhance the local 
green space 

-  incorporate planting, 
trees and greenery

- offer graded 
challenges so children 
can learn and take 
risks at their own 
pace

- be located near well-
used foot paths

- include non-
prescriptive play 
equipment (which 
encourages creativity)

- enable children of a 
range of ages and  
abilities to play 
together

- be accessible to, and 
usable by disabled 
children and disabled 
parents

- incorporate natural 
materials to 
encourage connection 
with the natural world

Learning strategy 
impact areas

 Confidence, wellbeing Confidence, wellbeing, 
involvement

Confidence, wellbeing Connection, wellbeing Understanding, 
involvement

Confidence, wellbeing, 
connection

P
age 42



35

Appendix Three

Maps showing school programme reach and areas of deprivation in London

Data from the 2015 Government Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD 2015) for England is shown on the maps using a coloured scale. Schools participating in 
the GSLP programme (2016 – 1019) have been overlaid on the map, showing programme reach.

IMD 2015 was created using indicators across seven domains: income, employment, education, health, crime, barriers to housing and services, living 
environment, and provides a measure of relative deprivation. 

Wild Schools, West Ham Park

Blue circle = programme base

White circles = schools engaged

The programme focused on Newham schools close to West Ham Park, where deprivation is relatively high. 

10% most deprived

10% least deprived

P
age 43



36

Schools service, Hampstead Heath

 

Blue circle = programme base

White circles = schools engaged

The Hampstead Heath school service reached schools across 12 
London boroughs, including Camden, Islington, Hackney, Brent, 
Tower Hamlets and Haringey, where deprivation is relatively high.

10% most deprived

10% least deprived

P
age 44



37

Schools service, Epping Forest

Blue diamond = programme base

White circles = schools engaged

The Epping Forest school service reached schools across ten London boroughs, 
including Hackney, Tower Hamlets, Waltham Forest, Newham, Enfield and 
Haringey, where deprivation is relatively high.

10% most deprived

10% least deprived

P
age 45



38

Reference map showing London boroughs

P
age 46

https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjNkL6XwaPkAhVkxYUKHac3A2MQjRx6BAgBEAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.educationquizzes.com%2Feducation-maps%2Flondon-boroughs%2F&psig=AOvVaw1ahljyf5q8-Si4VdnKeagL&ust=1567010290868721


Committee: Date:
Open Spaces & City Gardens 14 October 2019

Subject: 
City Gardens Update

Public

Report of:
Director of Open Spaces 

For Information

Summary

This report provides an update to Members of the Open Spaces & City Gardens 
Committee on management and operational activities across the City Gardens 
section since July 2019. 

Recommendation

Members are asked to:

 Note the report

Main Report

Finance
1. At this stage of the financial year City Gardens are predicting a balanced budget 

at the end of this financial year. Members will be aware of the increasing 
pressure on budgets, which is only likely to get worse in future years as a result 
of any further budget reductions, an anticipated reduction in the availability of 
Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy, against the background of a 
significant rise in the number of people using our gardens. 

Personnel
2. Following interviews, two assistant gardeners are being appointed to fill vacant 

posts on one-year contracts. We will be re-advertising a third post which 
remains vacant following an unsuccessful recruitment campaign. 

3. The current City Gardens Apprentices are coming to the end of their contracts. 
One was successful and will be filling one of the above positions and one will 
be progressing to a level three apprenticeship. We will be recruiting two new 
apprentices who will start in January.

Procurement
4. City Gardens are due to carry out a number of procurement exercises this 

financial year, these will help ensure that we continue to provide a value for 
money service:

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



 Supply of Herbaceous plants  – this contract is currently being advertised
 Soils and substrates – the final documents are currently with 

procurement and due to go out to tender shortly
 Tree purchase tender – early stages of procurement process anticipated 

start date is April/May 2020
 Tree Management Database – We have gone out to tender for a new 

tree management database. The existing database will soon stop being 
supported by its suppliers; it was prudent to go to market to assess other 
options.

Operational Activities
5. Christmas Trees: Sourcing large Christmas trees has proven to be very 

difficult this year due to a shortage of trees in excess of 30ft. This is due to a 
number of factors including changing climate and pest and disease. Our term 
contractor has been unable to provide us with the required trees this year. After 
considerable research an alternative supplier was found. The cost of purchase 
and supply has increased from £11,675 in 2018 to £17,135 this year. It is 
envisaged that this situation will only worsen and we may not be able to acquire 
large size trees in future years. City Gardens will assess options such as 
smaller sized and artificial trees and present a paper to this committee later in 
the year.   

Pests and Diseases
6. Box Disease/ Caterpillar: City Gardens visited RHS Wisley to view the hedge 

trials they are conducting with an aim to increasing the diversity of species that 
we plant. The team learnt how to identify Box caterpillar and to adjust pruning 
times to reduce the pest’s impact. 

Project Updates
7. Guildhall Piazza: City gardens are working with DBE to remove the defunct 

‘bog-garden’ and to replace it with substrate/ soil and low maintenance, high 
impact planting. 

8. St Dunstan’s in the West: This is a City Gardens project that is funded by a 
grant from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. The 
grant will be used to will enhance the garden with repairs to the paths, 
installation of a water standpipe, removal of defunct electrical uplighters and 
cabling, removal of 80-90% of the planting and replacement, new signage and 
turf replacement. This is due for completion over the coming winter.

9. St Mary Aldermary: This Churchyard paving requires extensive repairs. The 
boundary wall has failed due to poor design. The Historic Building Surveyor is 
currently considering options for the replacement of the wall. City Gardens have 
met with the Church and agreed to sharing the cost for repairing the paving. 
These works are being programmed in and will commence once faculty consent 
has been given.

Page 48



10. Senator House: This garden is now complete following the building 
refurbishment. 

11. 2-6 Canon Street (phase 2) Old Change Court/St Nicholas Cole Abbey: 
This project is a redesign of the current area incorporating new beds and trees. 
It is also proposed that the area to the front of the Church (St Nicolas Cole 
Abbey) on Queen Victoria Street will also be planted. Completion is anticipated 
over the winter.

12. St Alphage’s Garden: All of the hard and soft landscaping works have now 
been completed. Some final works to the wall and the installation of benches 
will be completed shortly.

13. Stonecutter Street – Goldman Sachs development: This project is now 
complete except for the replacement of one tree that was removed at Goldman 
Sachs request. This will be carried out in November 2019.

14. Greening Cheapside: Highway improvements around St Paul’s tube station 
will commence shortly. The improvements remove the existing low-level beds 
(currently seasonal bedding) and replace these with a new design to a raised 
level of 450mm to allow for additional seating. There will be two street trees 
included and the planting will change to herbaceous and shrub planting. 

15. St Bartholomew’s Close: Six street trees have been planted with more to 
follow in 2020. Raised bronze planters are due for installation in early summer 
2020 and will be planted with large multi stemmed trees and shrubs.

Planning 

16. A list of planning applications that have been received since the last Committee 
meeting can be found in Appendix 1.

Community, Volunteering and Events

17. Culture Mile installations in Smithfield Rotunda were removed at the beginning 
of October. 

18. Following the success of Friends of City Gardens “Top Ten Trees in the City of 
London”, a second similar installation is being planned for the winter with a 
focus on bark. 

19. City Gardens were very successful at this year’s London in Bloom awards 
ceremony:

 City Gardens – Gold and best in category
 Aldgate Square – Gold 

It’s your neighbourhood awards:

 Fann Street Wildlife Garden – Was rated as outstanding 

Page 49



 “Nic’s Secret Garden” (All Hallows by the Tower) – Was rated as thriving

The City of London was awarded a special award of Gardening in a Changing Climate;. 
The judges were particularly impressed with the trialling of new species and new 
planting mediums.

Appendices

Appendix 1 -Planning Application Open Spaces Consultations to 30 September 2019

Jake Tibbetts
City Gardens Manager

T: 020 7374 4127
E: jake.tibbetts@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 50

mailto:jake.tibbetts@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Planning Application Open Spaces Consultations to 30 September 2019

Application number Location Description 
PT_BXD/19/00383/FULLR3 Undershaft 

London EC3A 
6AT

To vary a condition of 
planning permission 
18/00378/FULLR3 dated 
21.06.2018 to extend the 
temporary time period for the 
installation of the sculpture 
Crocodylius Philodendrus' 
by Nancy Rubins to 
01.06.2020.

PT_AC/19/00473/MDC 10 Lower 
Thames Street 
London EC3R 
6EN

Submission of the 
landscaping scheme for the 
Riverside Walkway pursuant 
to Condition 10 of planning 
permission 18/01105/FULL 
dated 19.02.2019.

PT_SJW/19/00569/MDC St Botolph 
Without 
Aldgate 
Churchyard, 
Aldgate High 
Street London 
EC3N 1AB

Submission of details of a 
planning permission 
approved on 15.2.2018 
(17/01054/FULL) including 
measures taken to protect 
trees in the Churchyard.

PT_CL/19/00657/MDC Former Bernard 
Morgan House 
43 Golden Lane 
London

Landscaping and planting 
plan, including on site 
external courtyard pursuant 
to
condition 22 of planning 
permission dated 30th 
August 2017 (planning 
reference
16/00590/FULL).

PT_CL/19/00680/MDC Former Bernard 
Morgan House 
43 Golden Lane 
London EC1Y 
0RS

Details of the green roof 
pursuant to condition 23 of 
planning permission dated 
30th August
2017 (16/00590/FULL).

PT_CL/19/00682/MDC Former Bernard 
Morgan House 

Details of biodiversity 
enhancements for birds 

Page 51



43 Golden Lane 
London EC1Y 
0RS

pursuant to condition 18 (m) 
of planning
permission dated 30th 
August 2017 
(16/00590/FULL).

PT_BXD/19/00619/FULL Inner Temple 
Garden Inner 
Temple London 
EC4Y 7HL

Construction of two 
soakaways, associated 
pipework and gullies within 
the Inner Temple
Garden.

PT_CL/19/00699/FULL Aldgate House 
33 Aldgate 
High Street 
London EC3N 
1AH

Change of use of part of the 
ground floor and mezzanine 
(395 sqm) from office (Class 
B1(a))
to restaurant (Class A3) and 
associated works including 
ground floor extension (165 
sqm)
and extension of existing 
internal mezzanine (289 
sqm). – street trees to be 
protected.

PT_CL/19/00767/TCA St 
Bartholomews 
Churchyard 
Cloth Fair 
London EC1A 
9DS

Works of pruning to one 
Mulberry and one Elder.

PT_SJW/19/00777/MDC Crosby Square 
Steps London 
EC2 (22 
Bishopsgate)

Details of materials and 
appearance of walls, ground 
level surfaces, landscaping, 
bollards,
handrails and balustrades 
and the resiting of the 1890s 
lighting column pursuant to
Condition 2, and details of 
the stairs and wind 
mitigation trees pursuant to 
Condition 3 of
planning permission 
18/00910/FULL dated 
14.02.2019.

Page 52



PT_SJW/19/00856/MDC 22 Bishopsgate 
London EC2N

Details of a landscaping 
scheme pursuant to 
Condition 17 of planning 
permission
16/00849/FULEIA dated 
11.09.2017.

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



Document is Restricted

Page 55

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 57

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 75

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 83

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 91

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Three year review of the Open Spaces Department's 'Green Spaces, Learning Places' programme
	6 Superintendent’s update
	10 Non-Public Minutes
	11 Finsbury Circus Garden Reinstatement
	Appendix 1 Coversheet GW3 issues sept 2019
	Appendix 2 Change Register
	Appendix 3 GW3 Options appraisal

	12 Rennie Garden
	Appendix 1 Rennie Garden site plan

	13 Report of Action Taken

